FILED SID J. WHITTE MAR 6 19951

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

:

٠

:

2

1

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By _____ Chilef Deputy Clerk

MARVIN LEE KING,	
Petitioner,	
٧.	
STATE OF FLORIDA,	
Respondent.	

•

CASE NO. 85,026

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

RAYMOND DIX ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 919896 LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE FOURTH FLOOR NORTH 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

- iii -

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MARVIN LEE KING,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 85,026

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Marvin Lee King was the defendant in the trial court and was referred to as "appellant" or "defendant" in the initial appeal briefs, and shall be referred to by name or as petitioner herein. Petitioner shall refer to the state as "the state".

References to the record and supplemental record on appeal will be designated "R" and "SR" respectively, followed by the page number(s) of the references. References to the supplemental record filed by the state in November, 1993, containing the transcript of the original sentencing will be designated "ASM".

References to petitioner's First District Court of Appeal initial brief will be designated "AB", and to the state's answer brief will be "SB".

References to the petitioner's reply brief will be designated "AR".

- 1 -

References to the opinion filed by the First District Court of Appeal, from which this opinion is brought shall be designated "OD".

All other references will be self-explanatory or explained herein.

II STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner was charged, by information in cases numbered 89-3278 and 89-3279, with burglary of a dwelling with an assault contrary to section 810.02(2)(a), Florida Statutes (1991) and strong arm robbery contrary to section 812.13(2)(c), Florida Statutes (1991). In case number 89-3280, petitioner was charged with strong arm robbery contrary to section 812.13(2)(c), Florida Statutes (1991). All offenses were alleged to have occurred in the month of June, 1989 (R-1-6).

The state filed a notice of intention to seek habitual felony offender sentencing on September 18, 1989 (R-17). On September 27, 1898, petitioner was found guilty as charged in case number 89-3279 (R-18). Petitioner subsequently entered pleas of nolo contendere on case numbers 89-3278 and 89-3280 (R-26) and was <u>not</u> sentenced as an habitual felon on these cases (R-23, 28-33).

The trial court conducted a sentencing hearing in Circuit Court Case No. 89-3279 on October 24, 1989 (ASM-1-17). At that time the state reiterated its request that petitioner be sentenced under the habitual felony offender statute (ASM-3). The state then introduced, without objection from petitioner, certified copies of three prior convictions (ASM-8-9), and he asked the trial court to impose a life sentence and "punish [petitioner] with a maximum sentence allowable by law as a habitual felon". (ASM-10). Petitioner's trial counsel conceded that petitioner "would probably qualify as a habitual felon" based on the documentation provided by the State (ASM-11). Nevertheless,

- 3 -

defense counsel requested that the court impose a guidelines sentence (ASM-11-14). After hearing argument from the defense and from the state, the trial court sentenced petitioner as follows:

> [F]irst of all, [I] find that you do qualify as a habitual felon offender because of the convictions for felonies within the five years prior to today's date. The Court, however, believes that considering the guidelines sentence, considering the facts and circumstances of this case provided at trial, that the imposition of a sentence under the habitual felon section is not necessary for the protection of the public because a satisfactory alternative exists in imposing a quidelines sentence, and, therefore, I shall not impose a sentence in accordance with the habitual felon statute, but I shall hereby sentence you to 10 years in the state prison followed by two years' probation.

(ASM-14-15).

An amended affidavit for violation of probation was filed in case numbers 89-3278 and 89-3280 on January 15, 1993 alleging that on two separate occasions, petitioner had failed to live and remain at liberty without violating any law (R-35). An affidavit for violation of probation in case number 89-3279 was filed on January 29, 1993 alleging the same violations (R-38).

Petitioner was found to be in violation of his probation at a hearing held on January 25, 1993 (SR-116). A month later, on February 26, 1993, the state filed a notice of intention to seek habitual felony offender sentencing in petitioner's violation cases as well as the two new cases, which served as the basis for that violation (R-39).

- 4 -

Petitioner was sentenced on March 29, 1993, to thirty (30) years in state prison on each count as a habitual felony offender. All the sentences were to run concurrent (R-61-62, 67-68).

Notice of appeal was timely filed on April 12, 1993 (R-70). Petitioner was adjudged insolvent and the Public Defender was appointed for the appeal (R-73).

Petitioner filed the initial brief September 24, 1993. On November 15, 1993, the state filed a motion to supplement the record, and supplemented the record with the transcript of the original sentencing hearing. (ASM) On December 2, 1993, the state filed it answer brief, which was followed February 24, 1994 by the reply brief of the petitioner.

The First District Court of Appeal filed its opinion on December 15, 1994, (OD)(Appendix A). In its opinion, the district court noted that the state had "properly conceded error on two of the three cases on appeal, because petitioner had been <u>misinformed</u> as to the maximum sentence which could be imposed before he entered his plea. (OD-1-2).

However, in Circuit Court Case No. 89-3279, the court affirmed petitioner's sentencing after his violation of probation and, noting a conflict with another district court, certified the following question to this Court:

> AFTER A TRIAL JUDGE MAKES A VALID FINDING THAT A DEFENDANT IS AN HABITUAL FELONY OFFEN-DER, AND IMPOSES A NON-HABITUAL OFFENDER SEN-NCE OF PRISON, FOLLOWED BY PROBATION, AND THE DEFENDANT SERVES THE PRISON TERM, BUT SUBSE-QUENTLY VIOLATES HIS ORDER OF PROBATION, MAY THE TRIAL JUDGE, UPON RESENTENCING, IMPOSE AN HABITUAL FELONY OFFENDER PRISON TERM, THE

TOTAL OF WHICH DOES NOT EXCEED THE MAXIMUM ALLOWED BY LAW, PROVIDED THAT IT ALLOWS CRE-DIT FOR ALL PRIOR PERIODS OF INCARCERATION?

The district court issued its mandate on January 3, 1995, and petitioner filed a notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court on January 13, 1995. (Appendix B).

This Court issued its order postponing decision on jurisdiction and briefing schedule on January 24, 1995.

This brief on the merits of the case follows.

III SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Petitioner challenges the decision rendered by the First District Court of Appeal in his case on two grounds:

<u>A:</u> The facts of the case are different than relied upon and cited by the Court, and do not support their opinion.

The plain language used by the trial court indicates that it did <u>NOT</u> find King to be an habitual felony offender even though it found that he may have technically QUALIFIED for such status. (OD. 14-14, ASM.14-15).

Despite the plain language of the trial court to the contrary, in its opinion the Appeal Court stated that "the sentencing judge found King to be an habitual felony offender, based upon the statutory criteria." (OD.2) Furthermore, the error is apparent in the certified question which this Court is asked to consider begins: "AFTER A TRIAL JUDGE MAKES A VALID FINDING THAT A DEFENDANT IS AN HABITUAL FELONY OFFENDER..." (OD.8).

<u>B:</u> The First District Court of Appeal's answer to the certified question, which this Court has been asked to consider, is wrong. It would be wrong even if were based upon the facts of the case. To sentence a person to prison again as an habitual offender subsequent to the finishing of a prison term, violates the principles of double jeopardy. No statute, no case, allows imposition of successive sentences for the same offense, just because the courts use different, alternative sentencing statutes.

Arguments against the court's decision were presented with great depth and precision by J. Benton in his dissent to the opi-

- 7 -

nion of the appeal court. (OD. 10-26). We hereby incorporate the argument of that dissent into this brief.

÷

.

-

IV ARGUMENT

ISSUE PRESENTED: AFTER A TRIAL JUDGE MAKES A VALID FINDING THAT A DEFENDANT IS AN HABITUAL FELONY OFFENDER, AND IMPOSES A NON-HABITUAL OFFENDER SENTENCE OF PRISON, FOLLOWED BY PRO-BATION, AND THE DEFENDANT SERVES THE PRISON TERM, BUT SUBSEQUENTLY VIOLATES HIS ORDER OF PROBATION, MAY THE TRIAL JUDGE, UPON RESEN-TENCING, IMPOSE AN HABITUAL FELONY OFFENDER PRISON TERM, THE TOTAL OF WHICH DOES NOT EXCEED THE MAXIMUM ALLOWED BY LAW, PROVIDED THAT IT ALLOWS CREDIT FOR ALL PRIOR PERIODS OF INCARCERATION?

A: The trial court did <u>not</u> find petitioner to be a habitual offender.

The First District Court of Appeal erred in holding that the trial judge in this case made a valid finding that petitioner was an habitual felony offender, where the trial court expressly found that he was not.

The trial court found it unnecessary for the protection of the public to declare petitioner an habitual offender, and therefore it <u>acquitted</u> him of being one, and imposed a guidelines sentence as a "satisfactory alternative." The precise wording of the trial court should be closely examined:

> I believe it appropriate that the Court at this time, first of all, find that you do qualify as a habitual felony offender because of the convictions for felonies within the five years prior to today's date. The Court, however, believes that considering the guideline sentence, considering the facts and circumstances of this case proved at trial, that the imposition of a sentence under the habitual felon sanction [sic] is not necessary for the protection of the public because a satisfactory alternative exists in imposing a guideline sentence and therefore, I shall not impose sentence in accordance with the habitual felon statute, but I shall hereby sentence you to 10 years in the state prison followed by two years' probation.

> > - 9 -

(ASM. 14-15)(OD. 14-15).

The operative wording is: "you do qualify as a habitual felony offender ... however, ...the imposition of a sentence under the habitual felon [statute] is not necessary for the protection of the public." <u>Id.</u> That petitioner was qualified does not mean that the trial court found him to actually be an habitual offender. Black's Law Dictionary defines "Qualified" as:

> Adapted; fitted; entitled; susceptible; capable; competent; fitting; possessing legal power or capacity; eligible; as an elector to vote ...

<u>Black's Law Dictionary</u>, 4th Edition (West Publishing Company, 1968)(emphasis added).

When the trial court said that Mr. King qualified, it meant he was entitled, susceptible, and eligible, and perhaps it would have been "fitting" to be habitualized -- but the court refused to actually find him to be an habitual offender because it was "not necessary for the protection of the public." This indicates that Mr. King was in jeopardy of being found an habitual offender, but was acquitted of so being.

As pointed out in J. Benton's dissent, since the 1988 statutory amendments, chapter 88-131, section 6, at 706, Laws of Florida, the decision to habitualize a defendant has been declared to be ministerial. <u>King v. State</u>, 597 So. 2d 309, 313 (Fla. 2d DCA), <u>review denied</u>, 602 So. 2d 942 (Fla. 1992); <u>see</u> McKnight v. State, 616 So. 2d 31 (Fla. 1993), furthermore:

> The statutes and cases make clear nevertheless that the trial court must make a genuine choice in deciding whether or not sentencing under section 775.084 is "necessary

> > - 10 -

for the protection of the public." (cites omitted).

Because the original sentencing judge concluded that no necessity for sentencing appellant as a habitual offender existed, the statute directed that "sentence... be imposed without regard to ... section [775.084]."

* * *

While recognizing that appellant qualified for, and so was in jeopardy of receiving, (footnote omitted) sentences as a habitual felony offender, the original sentencing judge explicitly rejected the habitual offender option and imposed a guidelines sentence under section section 775.082, Florida Statutes (1989) instead.

(OD.13-16)(dissent)(Cites and footnote omitted for clarity).

The majority in the opinion cite to <u>Davis v. State</u>, 623 So. 2d 547 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1993), as being in conflict with their holding in the present case. (OD.8). They could have cited a much more appropriate case of the same name, out of its own court, as being in conflict. In footnote 4, which was omitted above, the dissent points out the following:

> We held in <u>Davis v. State</u>, 587 So. 2d 580, 581 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) that the trial court's initial decision not to find Davis a habitual offender, after considering the evidence and hearing argument on that issue, constituted an acquittal of a habitual offender sentence. (Cites omitted)

Citing "appellant's constitutional right to be free of facing double jeopardy," Grimes v. State, 616 So. 2d 996, 998 (Fla.1st DCA 1993) (corrected opinion), we have refused to allow resentencing under the habitual offender statute on remand from a successful appeal of guidelines sentences.

(OD.15, n. 4)(dissent)(cites omitted for clarity).

In the present case, as in <u>Davis</u>, (Fla. 1st DCA), the trial court made the decision not to find Marvin King a habitual offender, after considering the evidence and hearing argument on that issue. This constituted an acquittal of a habitual offender sentence.

The first district court's holding in the present case is also in direct conflict with its own holding in <u>Grimes v. State</u>, 616 So. 2d 996 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993)(corrected opinion), where the trial judge made an oral pronouncement that the defendant was <u>not</u> going to be sentenced as an habitual offender. In <u>Grimes</u> the First District Court of Appeal followed <u>Davis v. State</u>, 587 So. 2d 580, 581 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), and <u>Brown v. State</u>, 521 So. 2d 110 (Fla.), <u>cert. denied</u>, 488 U.S. 912, 109 S. Ct. 270, 102 L.Ed. 2d 258 (1988), in holding that the defendant, though he could have been habitualized, was pardoned or acquitted of being an habitual offender. Furthermore:

> [W]e find that the trial court elected not to categorize Grimes as an habitual offender, and that such election constituted a determination that may not now be revisited without treading upon appellant's constitutional right to be free of facing double jeopardy. Further, under these cases, it is immaterial whether the trial court erroneously concluded that he could not sentence Grimes as an habitual offender.

Grimes, 616 So.2d at 998.

In the present case, the trial court explicitly elected not to categorize Mr. King as an habitual offender, noting that Mr. King was qualified. Having acquitted him of being an habitual offender, the trial court then sentenced Mr. King to 10 years in prison under the guidelines, plus two years probation.

Thus, the basis for the opinion of the Court, that petitioner had been found to be an habitual felony offender is incorrect. Under its own cases, <u>Davis</u> and <u>Grimes</u>, petitioner had been ACQUITTED or PARDONED of being an habitual offender by the trial court at the first sentencing. Therefore, resentencing him for the same crime as an habitual offender treads upon appellant's constitutional right to be free of facing double jeopardy. Grimes, 616 So.2d at 998.

B. The majority in the decision below improperly rely on cases which do not address the fact that petitioner had already served a prison sentence prior to probation.

The well reasoned dissent of J. Benton is not only incorporated herein by reference, it is also specifically incorporated throughout, including the following:

> no statute authorizes imposition of a habitual offender sentence on a convict who has already been sentenced under the guidelines for the same crime and served ten years of the guidelines sentence in prison. Nor does any court rule purport to authorize such additional punishment.

> The decided cases do not support and, indeed, refute the majority's assertion that such authority exists. The Florida Constitution contains an absolute "prohibition against multiple punishments Art. I, Section 9, Fla. Const." <u>Thompson v. State</u>, 19 Fla. L. Weekly S555 (Fla. Oct 27, 1994). The federal Double Jeopardy Clause, applicable by virtue of the Fourteenth Amendment, also forbids double punishment for the same offense. <u>Benton v. Maryland</u>, 295 U.S. 784, 89 S. Ct. 2056, 23 L. Ed. 2d 707 (1969).

The crimes of which King was convicted (footnote omitted) were "punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s.775.084." Sections 810.02 and 812.13, Fla. Stat. (1989) (emphasis added). Under the rule of lenity, codified as section 775.021(1), Florida Statutes (1989), "or" should be given its plain meaning and should not be construed to mean "and" in this context. (footnote omitted).

(OD. 10-11).

Section 775.082 includes 2nd degree felonies, such as the strong armed robbery of which petitioner was convicted and which is the subject of this petition. Guidelines sentences and limits are presumptive under s. 775.082. Moreover, the word "or" indicates that the court may chose to sentence under s. 775.082 or s. 775.084, <u>but not under both</u>. The trial court had the choice, and chose not to sentence under s. 775.084, the habitual felony sentencing statute.

There is no longer a requirement that the trial court find that sentencing a defendant "is necessary for the protection of the public from further criminal activity by the defendant." However, this trial court specifically and explicitly found just the opposite, that it was NOT necessary to sentence petitioner as an habitual offender for the protection of the public. Therefore, even under the prior standards, petitioner, Marvin King would not have been sentenced as an habitual offender -- he was therefor acquitted of being an habitual offender.

Mr. King was sentenced to 10 years prison, to be followed by two years probation. HE SERVED THE PRISON PORTION OF HIS SEN-TENCE, was released on probation, and before the probationary

- 14 -

period had ended the probation was revoked. At the second sentencing, the state confirmed:

> He served 10 years He was originally ... given a 10-year sentence to be followed by two years' probation so he would get credit for the 10 years.

(T. 60)(also OD. 2, 17).

The Appeal Court majority, apparently ignoring the fact that petitioner had served his sentence of imprisonment, express the opinion that a "critical intervening factor" was present -- the violation of probation. (OD. 6). The majority then cited <u>Williams v. State</u>, 581 So. 2d 144 (Fla. 1991), wherein this Court held a departure sentence could be imposed upon revocation of probation, "based upon reasons which existed at the time of the initial sentence of probation." (OD. 7). However, in <u>Williams</u>, the trial court originally withheld imposition of sentence and imposed probation. Thus the "departure sentence" AFTER probation was revoked, was the first time the defendant had been imprisoned.

Unlike <u>Williams</u>, petitioner was imprisoned BEFORE probation, then HAVING SERVED his sentence of imprisonment, he is AGAIN sentenced to prison on the same charges after probation is revoked. Thus, having satisfied one imprisonment, petitioner is again imprisoned for the same crime.

The majority below also cite <u>Anderson v. State</u>, 637 So. 2d 971, 972 n.l (Fla. 5th DCA 1994) as support for their holding. (OD. 7-8). <u>Anderson</u> was on probation for robbery when convicted of cocaine charges. Anderson had been convicted of robbery and

- 15 -

despite the state filing notice that they wanted him habitualized, the trial court had given him a guidelines sentence of four and one-half years in prison, followed by two years of probation. He was subsequently arrested and convicted of drug related charges which violated his probation. Since the state had filed notice to habitualize before the original sentencing in the robbery, the trial court sentenced him as an habitual offender for the violation of probation.

In its opinion in <u>Anderson</u>, the 5th District in footnote 1 INTERPRETS this Court's opinion <u>Sneads v. State</u>, 616 So.2d 964 (Fla. 1993) saying that <u>Sneads</u> "appears to authorize habitualization after violation of probation even if the defendant was not originally habitualized." It is this interpretation which the 1st District relied upon to decide Mr. Kings case.

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