CIERN SUPREME COURT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MARVIN LEE KING,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 85,026

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

RÓBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS BUREAU CHIEF FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

AMELIA L. BEISNER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 832413

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, Marvin Lee King, appellant below and defendant in the trial court, will be referred to herein as "petitioner." Respondent, the State of Florida, appellee below, will be referred to herein as "the State." References to the record on appeal will be by the use of the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate page number(s). Additionally, references to the transcript of the original sentencing hearing in Circuit Court Case No. 89-3279, which was included as an addendum to the State's motion to supplement the record on appeal before the First District, will be by the symbol "ASM" followed by the appropriate page number(s).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State accepts petitioner's statement of the case and facts as being generally supported by the record.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

When the trial court originally sentenced petitioner, it determined that he was a habitual felony offender as defined in Section 775.084(1)(a), Florida Statutes, but it imposed a guidelines probationary split sentence. However, when petitioner subsequently violated his probation, the trial court revoked his probation and sentenced him to prison as a habitual felony offender.

Section 948.06(1), Florida Statutes, authorizes a trial court to impose any sentence it originally could have imposed when it revokes a defendant's probation. Thus, because the trial court in this case could have habitualized petitioner when it originally sentenced him, the court's imposition of a habitual offender sentence when it revoked petitioner's probation was proper under Section 948.06(1). Further, pursuant to well-settled case law, petitioner's claim that the trial court violated double jeopardy by imposing a prison term after revoking his probation is without merit. This Court should approve the First District's decision below and answer the certified question in the affirmative.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE/CERTIFIED QUESTION

AFTER A TRIAL JUDGE MAKES A VALID FINDING THAT DEFENDANT ISAN HABITUAL OFFENDER, AND IMPOSES A NON-HABITUAL OFFENDER SENTENCE OF PRISON, FOLLOWED BY PROBATION, AND THE DEFENDANT SERVES THE PRISON TERM, BUT SUBSEQUENTLY VIOLATES HIS ORDER OF PROBATION, JUDGE, TRIAL UPON RESENTENCING, IMPOSE AN HABITUAL FELONY OFFENDER PRISON TERM, THE TOTAL OF WHICH DOES NOT EXCEED THE MAXIMUM ALLOWED BY LAW, PROVIDED THAT ALLOWS CREDIT FOR ALLPRIOR PERIODS INCARCERATION?

When the trial court in this case originally sentenced petitioner, it determined that he was a habitual felony offender as defined in Section 775.084(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1988), but it quidelines probationary split Subsequently, however, when petitioner violated his probation, the trial court revoked his probation and sentenced him to prison as a habitual felony offender. The First District affirmed this sentence, holding that because the trial court could have sentenced petitioner as a habitual felony offender when it originally sentenced him, the court again had that option pursuant to Section 948.06(1), Fla. Stat. (1989), when it revoked his probation in 1993.

Petitioner now claims that the First District erred in affirming the habitual offender sentence he received after revocation of probation because the trial court "acquitted" him of being a habitual offender at the original sentencing proceeding, and thus did not have the option of habitualizing him either when it originally sentenced him or after it revoked his

probation. Alternatively, petitioner contends that because he previously had served the prison portion of his probationary split sentence, the trial court's imposition of a habitual offender <u>prison</u> term after it revoked his probation constituted an impermissible double punishment for the same crime. The State will address each of petitioner's claims separately.

A. Petitioner's claim that the trial court "acquitted" him of being a habitual felony offender.

Initially, petitioner alleges that the First District's certified question incorrectly states that the trial court found that petitioner was a habitual felony offender. According to petitioner, "the trial court expressly found that he was not" a habitual felony offender:

The trial court found it unnecessary for the the public declare protection of to habitual offender, petitioner an therefore it acquitted him of being one, and sentence quidelines а "satisfactory alternative."

Petitioner's merits brief at 9 (emphasis in original). Petitioner further claims that although the trial court found he "qualified" for sentencing under Section 775.084, "the trial court refused to actually find him to be an habitual offender because it was 'not necessary for the protection of the public.'" Petitioner's merits brief at 10. The record does not support petitioner's allegations on this point.

At the original sentencing hearing in this case, the trial court made the following determination:

[F]irst of all, [I] find that you do qualify as a habitual felon offender because of the convictions for felonies within the years prior to today's date. The Court, however, believes that considering the guideline sentence, considering the facts and circumstances of this case proved at trial, that the imposition of a sentence under the habitual felon section is not necessary for the protection of the public because a satisfactory alternative exists in imposing a guideline sentence, and, therefore, I shall not impose a sentence in accordance with the habitual felon statute, but I shall hereby sentence you to 10 years in the state prison followed by two years' probation.

(ASM 14-15) (emphasis added).

It is apparent from the foregoing that petitioner's claim that the trial court "refused to actually find" he was a habitual offender, and that the court somehow "acquitted" him of being a habitual felony offender merely because it decided a habitual offender sentence was "not necessary for the protection of the public," is simply incorrect. As petitioner recognizes, this Court has held that the determination that a defendant is a habitual felon under the statute is a ministerial one. State v. Rucker, 613 So. 2d 460, 462 (Fla. 1993). Consequently, when, as in this case, the State presents evidence demonstrating that the defendant meets the statutory definition of a habitual felony offender, the trial court must find that the defendant is a habitual felon, and it may then sentence him or her as such. If the court concludes that it does not wish to sentence a habitual

Section 775.084(4)(c) provides that "[a]t any time when it appears to the court that the defendant is a habitual felony offender or a habitual violent felony offender, the court shall make that determination as provided in subsection (3)." (Emphasis added).

felon pursuant to the penalties provided in Section 775.084, the court may (either explicitly or implicitly) make a determination under Section 775.084(4)(c) that a habitual offender sentence is "not necessary for the protection of the public," and it may impose a guidelines sentence. See State v. Rinkins, 646 So. 2d 727 (Fla. 1994); Geohagen v. State, 639 So. 2d 611, 612 (Fla. 1994) (holding that a trial court need not make a specific finding that an enhanced sentence is not necessary for the protection of the public before it sentences a habitual offender more leniently than required by the habitual offender statute).

The trial court in this case, by finding that petitioner qualified for sentencing under Section 775.084 (i.e., that he was a habitual felony offender), and then making the 775.084(4)(c) determination that a habitual offender sentence was not necessary for the protection of the public, merely followed the procedure set forth in the habitual offender statute. Clearly, the court did not "acquit" petitioner of being a habitual felon under the statute, as petitioner suggests. contrary, the court specifically found that petitioner was a habitual felony offender as defined by the statute (ASM 14). Compare Davis v. State, 587 So. 2d 580, 581 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) (emphasis added) (where the trial court "declined" to make the initial finding that the defendant was a habitual felonv offender, and where the First District concluded that "[t]he

² Section 775.084(4)(c) provides in pertinent part that "[i]f the court decides that imposition of sentence under this section is not necessary for the protection of the public, sentence shall be imposed without regard to this section."

trial court's <u>initial decision</u> not to <u>find Davis a habitual</u> offender, after considering the evidence and hearing argument on that issue, constituted an acquittal of a habitual offender sentence").

Furthermore, it must be remembered that the trial court sentenced petitioner in September of 1989, which was well before this Court held in Burdick v. State, 594 So. 2d 267 (Fla. 1992), that sentencing under Section 775.084 is permissive rather than mandatory. Prior to Burdick, courts generally interpreted the "shall" language in Section 775.084(4)(a) as mandating that habitual (non-violent) felons sentenced pursuant to that section must receive the sentences listed in subsections (4)(a)1-3. e.g., Burdick v. State, 584 So. 2d 1035 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991); Donald v. State, 562 So. 2d 792 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990). The trial court in this case therefore may have believed that if it sentenced petitioner as a habitual felon, it would have no choice See Section 775.084(4)(a)1 but to impose a life sentence. (providing that a career criminal convicted of a first degree felony "shall" be sentenced to life in prison). Indeed, the trial court's statement that "a satisfactory alternative exists in imposing a guidelines sentence" of ten years (ASM 15) reflects the court's belief that it could not have imposed a ten-year sentence under the habitual felony offender statute. Hence, the trial court's determination that a habitual offender sentence was "not necessary for the protection of the public" very likely reflected the court's determination that a life sentence was not necessary, rather than a decision to "acquit" petitioner of

habitual felon status. Accordingly, because petitioner qualified for habitual offender sentencing, the trial court had the option of sentencing him as such both when it originally sentenced him and (pursuant to Section 948.06(1), Fla. Stat. (1989)) when it revoked his probation. Thus, petitioner's claim that the trial court did not "make[] a valid finding that [he was] an habitual offender," and that the certified question is incorrect, must fail.

Petitioner's argument on this point closely resembles that presented by the defendant in <u>Williams v. State</u>, 581 So. 2d 144 (Fla. 1991), where this Court approved the trial court's imposition of an upward departure sentence following revocation of probation, even though the court had imposed a guidelines sentence at the original sentencing hearing. Just as petitioner contends that it is inconsistent for a trial court to impose a habitual offender sentence following revocation of probation when the court determined at the initial sentencing hearing that such a sentence was not necessary for the protection of the public, the defendant in <u>Williams</u> argued that it was

inconsistent to permit a departure based on reasons which existed at the time he was placed on probation, because in placing him on probation the court necessarily had to find that he was not likely again to engage

This Court's decision in <u>Williams</u> is discussed more fully in the State's argument under part B, infra.

in a criminal course of conduct. See § 948.01(3), Fla. Stat. (1987).

<u>Id.</u> at 146. This Court rejected Williams's argument, concluding that

section 948.06(1), Florida Statutes (1987), provides that upon revoking a defendant's probation the court is authorized to impose any sentence that it might have originally imposed before placing a defendant on probation.

Id.

Similarly, the trial court in the case at bar determined that although a habitual offender sentence might not have been necessary when it originally sentenced petitioner, such a sentence was appropriate pursuant to Section 948.06(1) after petitioner violated his probation. The trial court's initial determination that a habitual offender sentence was not necessary for the protection of the public therefore did not preclude the court from imposing such a sentence after it revoked petitioner's probation, particularly in light of the fact that petitioner received notice of the State's intention to seek a habitual offender sentence prior to the sentencing hearing at which he was placed on probation. Moreover, as was the case in Williams, the trial court's initial decision to give petitioner a second chance by imposing a guidelines sentence was not "inconsistent" with the court's decision to sentence petitioner as a habitual offender after it revoked his probation. Petitioner's argument on this point therefore must fail.

B. Petitioner's claim that the imposition of a prison sentence following revocation of the

probationary portion of his probationary split sentence violated double jeopardy.

Petitioner next claims that even if the trial court had the option of sentencing him as a habitual offender after it revoked his probation, the court's imposition of an enhanced <u>prison</u> sentence after it revoked his probation must be reversed because it violates double jeopardy. In making this argument, petitioner focuses on the fact that before he began serving the probationary portion of his sentence, he already had received and served a prison term as part of that sentence. Petitioner's argument on this point is as follows:

Mr. King [petitioner] was sentenced to 10 years [sic] prison, to be followed by two years probation. HE SERVED THE PRISON PORTION OF HIS SENTENCE, was released on probation, and before the probationary period had ended the probation was revoked.

The Appeal Court majority, apparently ignoring the fact that petitioner had served his sentence of imprisonment, express the opinion that a "critical intervening factor" was present -- the violation of probation. [Slip op. at 6] The majority then cited Williams v. State, [supra], wherein this Court held a departure sentence could be imposed upon revocation of probation, "based upon reasons which existed at the time of the initial sentence of probation." [Slip op. at However, in Williams, the trial court originally withheld imposition of sentence Thus the "departure and imposed probation. sentence" AFTER probation was revoked, was first time the defendant had imprisoned.

Unlike <u>Williams</u>, petitioner was imprisoned BEFORE probation, then HAVING SERVED his sentence of imprisonment, he is AGAIN sentenced to prison on the same charges

after probation is revoked. Thus, having satisfied one imprisonment, petitioner is again imprisoned for the same crime.

Petitioner's merits brief at 14-15 (capitalized words provided by petitioner). Petitioner thus takes the novel, and radical, position that a defendant who serves the prison portion of a probationary split sentence, and then violates probation, can never again be sentenced to prison because the "second sentence" violates double jeopardy.

In making the aforementioned argument, petitioner has overlooked numerous decisions from this Court and other courts holding that even when a defendant has served the prison portion of a probationary split sentence, the imposition of a greater term of imprisonment following revocation of probation does not violate double jeopardy principles. As this Court explained in Poore v. State, 531 So. 2d 161 (Fla. 1988),

We agree . . . that <u>double jeopardy does not</u> forbid the imposition of a longer period of incarceration when a petitioner violates probation in a probationary split sentence[.]

It is well-settled in federal law that jeopardy has attached when a prisoner begins serving a sentence, such that the original sanction may not be increased based solely on the same facts at issue in the trial. North Carolina v. Pearce, 395 U.S. 711, 89 S.Ct. 2072, 23 L.Ed.2d 656 (1969). However,

"[a] trial judge is not constitutionally precluded . . . from imposing a new sentence, whether greater or less than the original sentence, in the light of events subsequent to the first trial that may have thrown new light upon the defendant's 'life, health, habits, conduct, and mental and moral propensities.'"

Id. at 723, 89 S.Ct. 2079 (quoting Williams v. New York, 337 U.S. 241, 245, 69 S.Ct. 1079, 1082, 93 L.Ed. 1337 (1949)). In essence, the Supreme Court required that a new fact be produced that was not before the court at the original sentencing. Based upon this principle, the Fifth Circuit has concluded that

"[w]hen a greater sentence is imposed upon the revocation of probation, it can be based upon the defendant's subsequent conduct demonstrating his lack of amenability to reform."

Williams v. Wainwright, 650 F.2d 58, 61 (5th Cir. 1981). We ourselves have held that

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